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Detailing the creation of a three and a half metre tall bronze sculpture of Suri-
namese politician Johan Adolf Pengel by Surinamese visual artist Stuart Robles de
Medina, the photo album at the centre of this book chronicles its construction from
the artist’s studio and a provisional foundry in October 1972 to its public unveil-
ing on 5 June 1974 in Independence Square, Paramaribo, Suriname, where the statue
stands to this day. As the first and last bronze monument to be produced entirely
in Suriname, these predominantly black and white photographs show the process of
building an infrastructure from the ground up for large-scale bronze casting done
in Suriname with the help of the Reli company.

As the grandson of the artist, this photo album was instrumental in my early artis-
tic development and eventual pursuit of art as a profession. It provided insight
into the possibilities and intricacies of artmaking as a child growing up in Suri-
name in the nineties. The scale and technical innovations of the work, fueled by
the determination, stamina, and political engagement of my grandparents, inspired
me, and continues to inspire me to this day.

Fifty years after the unveiling of the statue of Pengel, I wish to preserve this
hitherto private family photo album, with supporting archival materials, as this
facsimile, identical in format to its source, and offer it as a historical document
of Stuart Robles de Medina’s 1life’s work as an artist and educator.

“Listen, this is not part of the MO-course [middle school teacher training course],
but I want to pass on this knowledge,” he recalled telling his students, during a
filmed interview in 2005, a year before his death. It is a brief yet telling mo-
ment, in which he states explicitly his intentions toward the end of his life, of
passing on these methods and ideas. The idea of conserving this photo album, which
laid in his lap as he spoke in the video, then, is implicit here. Considering the
generosity of his recorded retelling and willingness to participate in the filmed
interview, supporting Gerard Lau in his plan to make a documentary (which never
materialized), the conservation of his artistic legacy indeed might have been on
his mind.

Perhaps it can be inferred from my offering of an English translation, the intended
audience here is not limited to Suriname. My hope is that this information spreads
also within the international contemporary art community for whom the work of Stu-
art Robles de Medina, and this story, may be even more novel.

Lau’s unpublished filmed interview with my grandfather from 2005, and a conver-
sation I recorded with my grandmother, Barbara Robles de Medina-Nobrega, and my
father, Amedeo Robles de Medina, in July 2023, form the basis for the texts in-
cluded in this document. I have transcribed and edited these first-hand accounts
concerning the development of the sculpture with the primary intention of bal-
ancing clarity with fidelity to what was originally recorded. These accounts are
essential to understanding the photographic material and paint a vivid image of
the socio-political complexities surrounding the sculpture’s creation. The myriad
meanings of this family story have shifted in personal significance over time, but
the through-line is something elemental to the story of Surinamese democracy, and
the union of art and political activism.

Xavier Robles de Medina,
November 2023



®coy koi books Pengel STUART ROBLES DE MEDINA




®coy koi books Pengel STUART ROBLES DE MEDINA




coy koi
® coy i books Pengel STUART ROBLES DE MEDINA

Standbeeld

Pengel onthﬁld ; Standbeeld
et 1n opdracht van de ragering: Pengel onthuld

Sedney vervaardigde _standbeeld
van wiflen J.A. Pengel, door de becld Het in opdracht van do regéring:
houwer Stuart Robles de Medina is ! 4 Sedney vervaordigde  standbecld
woensdogmiddag in _ aanwezigheid % ' ¥ ] van willen JA. Pengel. door de beold
ven duizenden onthuld door ~ me: LY houwer Stuart Robles do Medina is
rouw  de  weduwe L. Péngel- { woensdagmiddeg in _ sanwezigheid
Augustuszoon. i van duizenden onthuld door = me:
vrouw  de  weduwe L. Péngel

Het-beeld is 31> meter hodg, en
stk op 6o GoKke! van rim 2 mes
ter, op het Oranjeplein A
ministerie van Financlen,
|de’ heer Pengel colc geruime i
leiding heeft gehad.

Hoewel de _onthullingsplechtig:
held om half vif ‘s middags zou be-

zich op. het Oranjeplein en op
terrassen van omliggende gebou-
wen zich van cen pleats, die hen een
goed uitzicht bood of

wear alles zich zou @

De verschillende sp

verneur Dr. J. Fertier

| Augustuszoon.
Het beeld is 3V meter hodg, &i

sjast. o eangokke! van rim 2 me:
ter, op het Oranjeplein by  hel
ministerie van' Financien;
de heer Pengel Gol geruime tijd do
leiding heeft gehad

Hoewel de _onthullingsplechtig:
heid om half vijf ‘s middags zou be-
ginnen verzekerdon al ford  twee
uur 's middags honderden mensen
zich op het Oranjeplein en ap de
terrassen van omliggende gebou-
wen zich van een plaats, die hen een
goed uitzicht bood op het Gentrum
wear alles zich zou afspelen,
De verschillende sprekers = gou

ter Emile Wijntuin, J. 4 v» o : k
op de verdiensten va v i S A ‘ 8 verneur Dr. ). Ferrier, statenvoorzit
Lem) en premier H § 4 g ter Emile Wilntuin, J. Lemmer  (Pa
de eerste voorzitier op de verdiensten van. Pengel, die
bond, statenvoorzitte . b i i . Lem) en premicr H. Arron - wezen
van 1963 tot en met 1 e @ . i - de eerste voorzitter v|d
Statenvoorzitter W. Xy i v 4 b bond, statenvoorzitter en  premier
vooral aen de woord| b . ;2!4 7 i van 1963 tot en met 1069 is geweest
..l houden wij niet & ¥ o Statenvoorzitter Wijntuin hechtte
ten wij elkaar omhelz Vg ¢ g vooral aan de woorden van Pengel:
de. Volgens de parle " ; b : la-
deze uitspraak Voot 3 i ton wij elkaar omhelzen"
richtsnoer zijn om g ¢ de. Volgens de perlementarier moet
do ontwikkeling var deze ultspraak voor one een
werken £ richtsnoer zijn om gezamenljk aan
Pa Lom accentue do ontwikkeling van Sriname te
tiopolitiek van Peng werken
i Ao sandond Koet viie de apnvang v de onthllngsplechigheid.  giteraumiddag op ot Oranjeple e Vo e e
R e e e i A s o e
oblee s odns VAR . Kapeanith T e e e molde St
heid sanwezigen w\l 5 ¥ Robles de Medina, schepper van het
uit over het wark vaf bt ¢ : Ay beeld, voor aan de bij de plechtig-
De onthulling ven] t ¢ o . A heid aanwezigon en liet zich lovend
de weduwe van de i P i " uit over het wark van de kunstenaar.
man, werd gevolgd\ s ' De onthulling van het beeld door
ik @pplavs van de l " 4 e DL de weduwo van de overleden staats
Van_de honderde " ey N 2 4" o ] 5 man, werd gevolgd door een harte
bloonistiikken did i S 7 - iijk applaus van de duizenden.
beeld werden gele h s e i Van de honderden kransen  en
van . mevrouw. . do %3&; e . A " ol bloemstukken die daarna bij ~het
Augustuszoon, gelt ’ b 5 oy e beeld werden gelegd, waren
ddchter van lopie ; o s van mevrouw. o wed. Peng:
verneur, de politiel . o el " Augustuszoon, gelegd door een
NPK, de VHP, gelé cmy } ddchter van Jopie Pengel, de gou-
der Jaggermath Lac { verneur, de politieke partilen In de
gen van de NP NPK, de VHP, gelegd door haar lei
A — @ der Jaggernath Lachmon en afdelin
i gon van de NPS. ;

Tijdens de i '
rij (vdnr) dnwvmuw M. Wolf, de w':lu:e: E. P

: zaten op de voorste
, med. Y. 1, de a ;
¥ P.-'.- g ?ﬁuﬁm’ lid der Staten van Suﬂnlmo; premier H. Ar-

ro:;n mevr. zichtbaar) en vil

O, van Gen- -




Part1

books

Part 11 Part 111

Introductio

Johan Adolf Pangel (1016-1070) was Prime Minis

Hindostani
Roform Party in 1073)

aned the Progressive

Stuart Roblos do Modina (199-2008) wao o Suri
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Detailing the creation of a three and a half metre tall bronze sculpture of Surinamese pol Johan
Adolf Pengel by Surnamese visual atit Suaet Robles de Medina, the photo album at the centre of this
from h da provisionalfoundry in October 1972 toits
public unveiling on 5 June 1974 in Independence Square, P: b e, where the
to this day. As the first and last bronze monument to be produced entirely in Suriname, these predomi-
nantly black and white photographs show the process of building an infrastructure from the ground up
for large-scale bronze casting done in Suriname with the help of the Reli comps
“An artist’s biography and a broader political narrative around the crucial five-year period before
independence from the Netherlands by turns, these materials tell the story of Suriname’s uniquely and
inherendly multiculeural landscape on the cusp of a new era of political self-determination, a century
afeer the abolition of slavery in 1873. As the grandson of the artise, this photo album was instrumental
in my carly artisic development and cventual pursuit of art s a profession. It provided insight into the
possibiltes and intricaciesof artmaking s achid growing up in Suriname in theninctis. The scle and
technical innovations of the work, fucled by the d d pol
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e hared Independence Square with it for

r and four months. Sub-

gnilica
Queen Wilhelmin:

quently, my grandfacher physically removed the statuc of Queen Wilhclmina, which was replaced with
4 flagpole and an extremely large Surinamese flag scwn by my grandmother specifically for the Indepen-
dence Day emony on 25 November 1975. ‘This later ermv extended the objectives of the work far

beyond its initial bronze casting.

Fifty years afier the unveiling of the statue of Pengel, I wish to preserve this hitherto private family
photo album, with supporting archival materials, as this facsi
offer it as a historical document of Stuare Robles de Medina's life’s work as an artist and educator.

“Listen, this is no parc of the MO-course [middle school teacher eraining course], but I want to
pass on this knowledge.” he recalled eclling his students, during a filmed inccrview in 2005, a year before
death. It is a bricf yct telling moment, in which he statcs cxplicicly his intcntions toward the cnd of
his life, of passing on these methods and ideas. The idea of conserving this photo album, which laid in
his lap as he spoke in the video, then, is implicit here. Considering the generosity of his recorded retell-
ing and willingness to participate in the filmed interview, supporting Gerard Lau in his plan to make a
documentary (which never materialized), che conservarion of his artistic legacy indeed might have been
on his mind.

Perhaps it can be inferred from my offering of an English translation, the intended audience here
is not limited to Suriname. My hope is that this information spreads also within the intcrnatio
temporary art community for whom the work of Stuart Robles de Medina, and this story, may be even
more novel.

Laus filmed : 005, and Irecorded
with my grandmother, Barbara Robles de Medina-Nobrega, and my father, Amedeo Robles de Medina,
inJly 2023, form e bsis fo e s inluded i his dot.umu\( Thave eranse
first-h h the prima
clarity mh fidelity to what was orig -Il\ recorded. These accounts are cssential

Jentical in format to its source, and

veshiffed in personsl signi

Gt lw the story of Surinamesc democracy, and the union of art

inc is something clemer
and policical activism.

Xavier Robles de Medina,
November 2023
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Part ]

11 March 2005, Paramaribo. Stuarc Robles de Medina interviewed by Gerard Lau. The texc has been transcribed, edited, and reformateed from the original

video recording.

Lam Scuart Robles de Medina, former teachr of handicraft and drawing, and course leader of the MO-
course in handicraft and drawing. Also, an artist: that means sculptor, and painter, and draughtsman. I
did my studies in Tilburg, MO-course in drawing in Tilburg and later completed in The Hague. I did
the MO-course in handicraft in Amersfoort five ynnlaz:rm 1958, through 1960. In 1960, I returned to
Suriname to work at the teacher training school.

T got my first commission afier my MO-course in drawing and handicraft only twelve years after
graduating. That was in 1962, commissioned by M. Nagel, the architcet who buile the Central Bank ac
the Waterkant. He commissioncd m then o design the three doors for the bank. I did that, so I also
made and designed them mysclf. That was my first assignment in Suriname. From then on, I got other
commissions, like the one from Bruynzecl, and later from Lou Licheveld (Albert Helman), I got a com-
mission, and then it continued naturally. 1 later won many prizes in competitions such as stamp com
petitions, and the first prize of the Alcoa competition (1956}, and that’s how I got into it, and I started
ting portraits.

Tgot to know Pengel only in 1968. He invited me there once because I was commissioned to make
28t 2 o Surname c the Workd Heakh Organisacon in Wishiogion (19631, k was abranc-ncw
building that was b d,and cach h d then to make

y
a sculpture in Surinamese wood as  gif to the organisati oo

g Iy hen, Inever d d things, or kept things, but  reccived many compliments.
Igot from Pengel timein the
el m.. he had his e (oge(herwnh Mr. Kmhm ;m pnbll:m and Mr. Lo 0t very
differenc “There he also had those two

lions. Pengel e, agift, o b People closc to him, after
office hours, would sit there in the cvening with him and char, of course also about politics and such.
Tivie [ went thee. Then [ got to know the man nadiffret capaiy: as uman being, s anordinry
man. He sat there just di he craved heriheri | dish with root
egeabko) e wonld e e Seivene and o e T very enjoyable.

I lacer got another commission from a friend of mine, Walter Lim A Po, to paint a porcrait
of[’(ngcl. But thac couldn'c happen at my housc, because he wouldn't come to my place. I would bring
my things to his office at General Affairs and so while he was working I had to paint him. That was a
very stressful assignment for me, because I had to sit there while he had discussions with his ministers.
One by one they came, while he gave orders to his secretarics. But he was very pleasant. In two scssions
1 painted Pengel then.

Atanother stage, he appointed me to a committee for the national tree and national flower of Su-
iname. The chairman of which was Engr. Adhin. And Joyce Guda was also on the commitee, and a few
others. I was also par of thar. That's how I gor to know Pengel. I also did other things before thar, with
the lctionsin"69,the NP then asked me to srcen[silscreenprin] undershires, ::unp;ngn materi-
als.1 did that in my th s with the help of
10,000 undershirts for the NPS. I’cng:l also came over once to have a look then.

Later, we got a commission from him to make Martin Luther King. He had just died and a statue
was to be made. T was at such an advanced stage, | had completed Martin Luther Kingin clay form, and
shencha i big ke broke ot i Suiname 1 pus e o hecme a1 wes v n o group chr,

was against the Pes i fell chrough, but that
B o e o O e e e o s T gotten photo
o e e gl L o et s
working, I heard th FMartin Luther King i dio, and i iring. But any-
way,so the sculpture did not go ahead, because | had neglected to submit my budget, what the sculpture
e o el s bl ]
would carn. The Pengel adminiscration fell, and as a result the sculpeure did not go

Isd d him, to hangin the hall of General Affai
Bl v prcdcwsmn also hung Shorely thereafier, I was vsited by Mr. Kruisland and Wim
van Eer. They came to ask if I would like to make a design for Pengel’s statue. A committee had been

ic” He said: “Because the commitcec is a bt divided.” A pare wanted to have it made abroad. and another
pare, including Wim and Kruisland, were in favour of having it made in Suriname from A to Z. That's
when @ acecpted the challenge.

Part1

Once the clay sculpture was finished, I sarced working with my students to mould it in pares, in
sections. So, in parts we builetha thing up, and fired i out and ce it in pares agan. Those pars chen
ended up back in my studs pa putback together ag:

and night, we worked, I can ecll you.

ighbourhood heard a snore. Very clearly. And 1
Doyouhearthat, doyouhearthat?” And

Pengel was almost finished in bronze. Suddenly, the n
heard it in the morning too and I wol ¢ wie, and I sai
she said: “T hear i too.” And it was silent. When th
night, and then onc of those students of mine said: “Ies Pengel who's snoring’ Juu B i
ignited the whole thing. And then Slageer heard it. He immediately came over, so I told him what was
going on. I said: “But it could also be Pengel’ lions. Because when a lion snores at night, you can hear it
from very far away. Just ke when you hear those howler monkeys, those howler monkeys are kilometres
away, and sill you can hear them” Slagvecr went on to publish it in his paper, “Pengel is snoring,” just
before the clection. So I went to school later, and some of those guys came up to me: “Man
rible publicise! It a publicity scunt. Pengel is snoring” That was just a joke in the interim: Slagveer got
ic rolling,

you're a ter-

It went in phases. So initially there were Van Eer and Kruisland, who were supporters of me making it.
And had faich in me and in my ability. Sedney cooperated, which I can't say about other ministers at the
time, who denicd me a lot of things. With the support of my wife, we got by with that little amount of
money I got that year. She also had the conviction that I could make it, she had that confidence in me.
And I mustn’t lic, my son [Amedco], he was great.
Hehelped wicheverything lccause of thehelp,from a twelve year-ld b
hi

it was such a motiva-

tion for me, & Icould doiit. me lh.AllLuuld doit, so an incredibly
bonddeveloped,chatone y and me. the first
. it From Suhosa, from the clay factory Suhosa, we

gor coarse clay and clmca it for modclling. He helped with welding the framework, hanging crossbars
against the framework. I did the modelling work, of course, but other than that he did everything.
i phase oo i was also inolved. That wascoverng the cly sulprure in plase,to make
¢ pupils: H ic, who sill teaches
[ e e e ..1." died in 2022], Lie A Njock, a pupil of mine, and Doclwij. Doclwit wis 3
Karate teacher and student of mine.

“The third phase. preparing the plaster moulds, cleaning those plaster moulds, and laying the wax
platcs. That is also where that same group—so Heymans, Lic, and Lic A Njock, and Dochwijt—and my
ftheralso came 0 helpand my som. My Fthee came  lsn, o tha verythin ooked ordrly, because

e, ditexciting to In the third phasc, those
plaster moulds had to be hrmlghr cogeherwich chose wax plts i chem,with the prucs and th vens.

build . Iy, which
ST e (LT e e S RS ay A Re
and (ho:c hoists, and so on. Tha(v\u phase four,alsoled by Roel Lim A Po.

And then phase five. When going! gL enlisted th from Beckhui-
zen. The ministe of public works llowed me mvmrkv.llh thase guys, who also had some casting expes
ence, y had never. before. So th them too. At Beckhuizen,
they cast screws, nut bolts, in bronze or in lead. Their frontman was Jefficy. There was. Kogeldaws, 2
welder, Luc—no, no, Luc was a firer, who fired up the bronze, to the right temperature. There w
a cercain Stekkel present, but I can't remember exacdly what he did, and a Wicbers, and a certain Mees,
who also used to join.

 Then you get phase fo

Ve first cast a est to get those guys used to it, how hot the bronze had to be, and the Auidity. It had to be
castin ane stream. So pouring from the crucible had to be done in one movement, until the mould is ful
because otherwise you get air inside, and you get corrosion, of the bronze as well, and then those parts
come off, of course. Then you have to startall over again. And so I then moukded several busts that L had
at home beforchand as tests. The first two failed. The third one started getting beteer and the fourch one
wasabout incty-iv per cnt good: Only dhen did swich o ch pars for Pengel

1 Thad to make th [State M t, 1966]. That
the f......dr, for four months then, also day and
night, and leamt the whole technique then. I then applicd that tcchnique to Pengel, and I had wanted to
apply it to Martin Luther King, and I also cast heads mysclf later, so I know that technique well. But in
the first phase I made small mistakes, makes sense. When I worked in the foundry, I also learnt how to
correct mistakes. So if there was a hole, an air bubble, in an area of a casting like that, you have to be able
to fill the hole, exactly as it was. And all these litle things, I learn chen.

“The first part we cast..... [was] the back, and because the sand in the tub, where the mould poured
in, was not stamped well cnough against that plaster mould, when we cast that liquid bronze, the mould
started to expand, making it too thick at the bottom of the back part, and way too heavy. So that pare

was also made and cast in the Netherlands. I worke
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Van Ecr was my headmaster, from the teacher eraining school. And Kruisland was his friend. In
that context,  gotto know Kruisland. We hung out a ew times and they knev what L was capable of,so

he other part hat 1 could do . And especial-
Iy because I aid I could do ic here in “That was what iting about it,to prove that we
could also do it ourselves, and not necessarily go abroad every time.

I made a design, and then they came with the prime minister, Jules Sedney, to take a look at the design.
Allthrce of them were excited about the proposal. Then [ was e serbally commissioned to make
thatscul how bigit would b ld be at least
s and Pl et tll!Aboue 3 all 2 prisoes Wilhclmiau Fit 1o st o i U opaceC A
fes Sedney didle wane tha, he wanced it  bic smalle,chen [ reerred him to & o,:d: [also known as

The Discoverer] by Erwin de Viies. Nobody knows t hers s
New A rd: th of the i Ruvcr l;:nd il p:
that bigplain there, and you look at New Amterd: ill neverb by Erwinde

¥
Viies, because that statue is only two metres twenty tall. And -nsnndu\s e i
“You can never sce that in a space like that. And Orange Square [Independence Square), if you want to
sce the sculpture from the other side of the square, then that thing has to have a volume.” Then he went
sailing one time—he was my neighbour—and later when he recurned, he said: “Stuare you're right, go
ahead”” He gave me torally frec rein, I made my sculprure three and a half meters.

When it was fixcd in clay, Arron came by, with that old gentleman De a Fucnte, who was really an
NPS man, and Mr. Lemmer, Palem, they spent some time lookinga the statue [ didn'c know Pa Lem.
had met him only once by P e butathewis [ . Then he said: “Stu
artLmust pay you people justlooked,
Ttaly” Lemmer said tome, “but Thave to
apologie” He thought e was  bautifl sculprurt bucac cha poinc it was still in clay.

‘Afcerwards, I came to an understanding with thosc guys of min, from the MO-coursc: “Lis-
T T R B T e 0 (R T 3y s M3
participatc?” And all four boys ended up participating—you'll soon sce them here in my album—in
moulding the sculpture, and going through that whole process, for a year. That was the agreement
with Sedrey: one year, exactly one year.

When I was commissioned for the sculprure, I gor at least cighty photographs, from the RVDS, Gov-
emment nformarion Scvie [ psted chosc in my sudiso cerywhere | cumed Lsaw Pngel from all
angles. On the basis ofal thosc photos ¢ Iwould
like Pengel to be.

L i o aly s buan bing, h.u also as a leader of the people. During that period, the
man was so popular that he had a party. One time, [ was at General Affairs isiting
e e G Lhned et s bl past onc, and nobody
was going home. Looked a al ch surounding minisis, and people e sanding t he window
waiting for Peng leave his office his car and leave. Only th
and only then b cveryone go home. That fascinated me so much that I sid: “No, this man is m,l, the
leader of the people.”

“That's what I wanted to convey in Pengel sculpture ater on. So you didn merely see the likeness
of the man, and the body, but that leadership had to come out. A simple man, no suit and no tie, just a
man of the people. Plus, the strength that radiated from the man. I very lightly tumed the man's head to-

wards he palac,just for s moment. So e s o scupdly looking seraighe ahead. Healso had the sacure
. and I did not poreay him as a fighter, he is just walking, He is walking forward,
into the futurc. Those arc the things [ wanted to convey.

16’ the fisc was casti b has ever been cast in Surina-
e “The courage [ had, [ was forty-two years
old,Ldidn et cived. Forayear L never got dred. Dmy and mxhl Luorked with my son, in my sudi, o
when sl asTwoke up,

Iedidn'e et go of me fora year.

Assoon as  gotsome money from Sedncy;to buy mateials, then | stated theframework. I went to my

friend Walter Lim A Po, I s n you help me.
in his factory to build a foundry?” His brother, uul was \nnkmg at /Andcn] o cxpand the rumvay. We
went to mect him there and he e said: “Stuart, d percent, Il work

with you!

Welater had the discussions in the back. During the meeting I cold him: “I need a kiln that should
look like this and thar, and be this big: I nccd a mlcing furnace to melr the bronze, I nccd a hoist.” And
Iexplained to him cxacely how it had to be sct up, and then he put his men to work. I later ordered from

the

him the b herlands, and 1 and phsee,and other mateias. For the most part
sc wood for fring, charcoal, and to mele the b the bronze had to reach
B e R e e e N A i
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then had to be remade, but that could not be done immediately. So then we first made all the parts: the
footplate, the shocs, with the lower leg, and later the upper part, and after that the rest. We firse cast all
those and welded them togther, and then only the back part remained open, a big hole.
Because ad slreadylearne chisinche Nechelands, how to repaia il pre | hen weldedan-
d covered itin cly, actly the same b d
i Pty 1 oo e g e e [ ek
again, and then the sculptur was finished. After that it was just pping of al
those burr picces. Was a hell of a job, but very exciting.

hen th 4, A d ys—and

inviced the four Granmans [paramount Maroon chiefs] co my house 0 sce ir. Granman Aboi-
sranman Forster, Granman Gazong Matodja, and a fourth, his name I don't remember. But Forster
was a Christian, those others were non-Christians. They
were not allowed to take picturcs. They came with their Captain and my wife was not allowed to scrve
them, so no serving soda or a beer, no, no. The Captain had to get it himself from our fridge and pour
i, and it was very fascinating to sec, those strict rules they followed. Then they went to my studio to sce
Pengel, and Forster was the only one who had brought his wift, the others had lef their wives at home.
And tha woman came right back out of my studio scrcaming, and my wife had to hold her. She was so
scared, she was shaking, because she thought that sculpture was so great, so impactful, that she couldn't
stay in the studio. They also prayed then. They took a Dyogo [a onc litre beer bottle] from me, from the
fridye, and whilcone of them slowly poured it ovsthefect of Pengecheyalltood and prayd. That was
Ve had invited them to look at was before the unveiling.

1 dcslg’xcd the pedestal myself.A pedescal chat suiced che man, it had tobe.a unifcdwhole, Ldidrie
want someone clsc to come in and build a pedestal and then the statue would be placed on top. So I de-
cided the height mysclf, the length, the widch, and I made the blucprints, I then went to the BEM, and

he BEM uscd my blucprints to make the formwork and cast the slabs. They placed it right there, where

ne and we were not allowed to film, and we

Later, I came with Reli, from Lim A Po, we had to hoist that sculpture out of my studio with a
erane, because the sculpure was so big that it couldn't i through my door. A crane truck had to come
and break open my roof to lft thar thing. Tha's how it was brought there, and with tha cranc we then
phecd tha sculpture on the pcdcxral

g . The square was comp . Both be-
bind e Fimee P i st e e o e N [t (ST
of Paramaribo was standing there. And [am not that extroverted, I was very impressed and bashful, that
so many people came to sec one statue. It was beautiful. I reccived a sncaky compliment then from those
guys from NOS, chat they liked the statue. And Venetiaan was the first to come to e, to congratulate
me. And lacer Wim's wic, Wim van Eer. Then together with Roél Lim A Po from the factory, I went to
“Torarica for a drink. And that’s how the day went. And so later, from all irections—till today when I'm
sitting at 't Vat and people come by, who still recognise me—people still come to compliment me on the
statuc.
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Part 11

6 July 2023, Eindhoven. B Barbara Robles de Medina-Nobrega, A Amedeo Robles de Medina, and X Xavier Robles de Medina in conversation. The text has

been transcribed and edited from the original audio recording.

X Tostarcwith, [actually wane bit better what it in Suri i o
tion. il ly i ip with Pengel?

B So obviously I can only give you my own experiences, my own impressions; that may
not be the average opinion of the average Surinamese, but [it was) as I, we, expe-
rienced it. Anyway, that whole period, the fifties, sixties, was terribly exciting.
Because it was the period in which Surinamese became aware of their individuality,
their Surinameseness, and the possibility of br ing away from the colonial ruler,
which was essentially a thorn in the side of all of us. And that movement, we were
in the middle of that, and Pengel was a very, very important figure in that.

So he made us, especially the Surinamese of colour, he made us realise that we had our own
identity. Grandpa and I were very much admirers of Pengel, of Johan Adolf Pengel.
And grandpa’s brother was Pengel’s translator, he was Pengel's Spanish translator.
So everywhere Pengel went, if he needed a Spanish interpreter, Ro went with him. So
Ro was very closely involved with Pengel. So naturally that connection with Pengel
was also a bit closer. We have, of course, your grandfather, that is, painted Pengel
a couple of times, twice, portraits of him. One of the portraits disappeared with-
out a trace, nobody knows where it is, and the other portrait, I think, was burnt.
During the fire of General Affairs. T thought he was a very nice, very quiet, sweet
man. That's my impression of Pengel

¢ memories of him?

X Doyouhave any speci

B Yos, very superficial ones, really. Ho lived in Zorg en Hoop, and we visited him
once, but it was a very short visit. Ho had a very beautiful tree, I bolieve it was
an alnond tree, under which they sat, talking and drinking, and discussing politics,
and 5o we visited him there once. But I didn't know him much more personally than
that. But I did admire him.

X 11969, the NPS loses the election and Pengel’ time as prime minister comes to an end. What was acrually the
canse, or what was the context around that?

B What I know about it is that his leadership was made difficult, and actually hi-
jacked by Dutch intarference during those years. Thare were agents from the Dutch
government coming to Suriname, disguised as teachers, and they stirred things up.
So you had the AMS, general secondary school, and the teacher training school; those
were the two secondary schools at the time. And many Dutch teachers got jobs at the
AMS, but a handful also at the teacher training school.

A tremendous feud developed between the Dutch teachers and the Surinamese, because, first
of all, those Dutch teachers got better pay. The Surinamese did the same work, but
they were not remunerated as well there was also that political
aspect. And certain teachers, not all of them, but certain ones, had come to insti-
gate things, to sow discord among the population. And then the Surinamase teachers
formed the teachers’ union [BvL], and those Dutch toachers were in the VELMEK. And
those two associations, they clashed.

And that was being fought all the way to tho courthouse. And one timo-when one of those
trials was about to take place-I was one of the first to arrive at the courthouse,
and I was at the very front against the glass door. Gradually more people came, it
got more and more crowded, and the pressure from the back against the door was so
great that I was pushed through the door. The door just exploded, shattered, and I
was covered in shards.
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cherein dhe neighborhood widhalthe echnic groups mised togethr. We didt concern ourelves
with poliical chings, b i fire. We did ig fires as
j bikes and go quickly to look.
X And those fires were politically related?
So we di l of a sudd big fire and it ional for us.
B And we'd go by car to look, on Watermolenstraat.
X ime, in 71, chat the NPS decided i He

did thacactually starc?

B Yes, because he started the sculpture in ‘72, so the run-up to the commission took
a while, but the NPS couldn’t get it done, bacause they wanted him to be partially
funded by the government. Then Sedney pushed for it, at some point.

A AndSedney was the prime minister at the time.

B But he had to get permission from the minister of education, because he couldn't
make that sculpture and also teach classes, and be a teacher. So he had to get time
off, to do a project like that. He had to go to the minister of education, and the
minister of education at the time was, what’s his name? A Hindostani guy, the broth-
or of August Frijmersum's wife.

A Mitmasing.

B Mitrasing. He went to the minister to apply for extraordinary leave from duty. Ex-
traordinary leave, that means, paid leave. Then Mitrasing said to him: “What do you
need that for, the holiday is coming up, can't you do that thing during the summer
break?” The summer break is six weeks. The very idea is ridiculous. You can’t. You
can’t make a sculpture like that in six weeks. So then they turned it down.

Then we had to deliberate together. He said: *It's up to you, what you decide, I'm stick-
ing by that, but I can't make that status in six weeks.” I said: “Of course you
can’t make that statue in six weeks.” He said: “If I do want to make it, and I want
exemption from service, it's without pay.” I said: ‘Well, Stuart, listen, if you
don’t grab this chance now, to show what you can do, to show your ability and your,
and your, and the uniqueness of your ability, you're never going to get the chance
again. This is your chance. We'll see what we're going to do, we'll se

That's how he accepted the commission anyway, without payment. What they did do, they gave
an advance to start, because he had given them a whole quote. From that, we could
1ive then as frugally as possible, because I mean, with five children, you have to
eat avery day, you need things.

Gedfolettergine nelatiats tediialler feTatozstolo1angandasecfonlt et Yot tenfoog

advance of 45,000 guilders. So making the sculpture, and our living expenses,
(T G i (e you can imagine that I had to make the greatest possible
offort to keep my head above water, to spend as little of that money as possible,
because he needed it to make that statue.

Which led me to Lie from Eerste Rijweg Store. I had agreed with them to take as much as
po: ble on account. I explained to him how things were, I said: “When this is all
over and my husband gets his full payment, I'1l come and settle everything with you
again.” And he had accepted that. So On Tjai would write it down. Because otherwise
we could not have lived. We could not have survived.

A so.1dontk bueldok ry now and then we had to go shop-
ping, and then it was jotted down in a litcle book, by On Tjai. Then he would put marks.

B We both had a book. T made that arrangement then with that Chinese guy. I'm not at
all businesslike in nature. I mean, I'm not at all. um, money making stuff, that
doesn’t suit me. But I still managed to do that.

X the the project. Can you he made that firse sculprure in wax?
Becwse thary the) ongmd concepr, I suppose.
A 1doknow tha k wax. What hild
asculpture of Martin Luther King dio.
her King, a1 donickn

S peters e e e e e e A
and at a certain point there were pictures of Pengel.
B That design in wax he showed, you know, that was approved to be carried out by those,
by NPS front men, who had commissioned it in the first place.

A ¥, <o they, together with Krusu [Kruisland] and with Sedney, committed to getting Pengel done,
o makingit. Even chough Sedney was from a difrnt ary. B he was ch prime minser a che
d P Idore-

Pengel

Pengel
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Once I was in the hall, people came up to me from all sides, everybody around me was

taking splinters out of my face, out of my neck, everywhere. I don't know how I
survived that. But those were very exciting, !hulllng times .
A What is the 1969 stk

e e v et Wty s i ) o

brother and I chen climbed onto the roof to warch the storming of SRS from above, and that was

very exciting, we were eight years old then.
That procession then went down Herman Snostraat, past my brother-in-law's house, Ro,
who was director of the teacher training school, and so he was also in the teach-
ers’ union. They pelted him with stones, and then they came by our house. I was
terrified, T thought, my God, they better not start smashing things here, because
we don’t have the money to have everything rebuilt. But anyway, they continued on
And chanting, they were shouting things. They had slogans. I don't remember exactly
what, but slogans were shouted, as they were on their way to SRS.
X Andshordy afte char, Pengel also died.

AZ [Acads I Paramaribo), and afier chat he- be from di
pointment and betrayal.

X And tremendous stress, I can imagine.

What I do know-but you don’t have to include that in this thing-the night he died
1 didn’t even know he had already passed, I had a dream. Grandpa and Grandma were
in Holland, they weren't in Suriname, and Stuart was in Washington with Jozef Klas
[Surinamese sculptor and artist, 1923-1996], on some kind of stipend, that they
were given the opportunity to take courses there, or I don’t know what. It was very
short, but it was in the month of June [Pengel died on & June 1970).

I dreamt that Jopie took my hand. A very soft hand. And it slid down my hand so gently

So very gently. And when I woke up, I thought: how strange. I heard later that day
that he had passed away. Then I thought, did that man come to greet me, but I'm not
really close with him, why did he come to greet me like that? I can never forget
that, frankly.

X Burwhardid people think of Pengel after his death.

Look, the NPS anyway, his whole party, of course was completely devastated, and

parties, NPS and VHP, but they got along very well. And they were engaged in uni-
fication, and bringing the different demographics closer together, and trying to
form unity. They did try to do that. Alas, not everyone was so enamored with that,
probably.
X Oter your Suriname in th veryday life a5 a family?
Life was not lousy. It was a quist life, basically, except in politics; in politics
it was constant commotion. Because there were the voices, and those indeed were
coming from the NPS, when Pengel was still alive, but to become independent. So
there were the people who were committed to that, and the people who were absolute-
1y against that, and who were afraid of independence. Because they were made to be
afraid also by the groups of the Javanese and the Hindostani party, that once the
independence would become fact, that the Black Surinamese would come to dominate
them. That fear was terribly strong, especially among the Javanese. Soemita fright-
ened those people terribly, Somohardjo too.

R And dheylefein droves.
In droves! Left for Holland then
X Thacwas around 70 orso?
No.

A Juscbefore'75.
Tndopendence was in Novembor, so that whole year of '75 poople left.
R Afer the date, and af for their
ent,they lef immediaccy.

X Buc chacwas, in face, afier the unveiling of the statue.
Yes, the statue had already been unveiled in '74
X And thac was before this big exodus, basially, to the Netherlands.
Yes, the big exodus was really throughout '75.
R Whatl can remember as a young teenager back then, we acually had a precy pleasan childhood
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member that, that his pen er, d
a caricarure of Sedney. With a Superman cape.
X Sotharyear Grandpa, in fact, didn'c teach.
Once he accepted the assignment, he embarked on it, this is '72, October '72. That's
when he started.
X Heworked then mainly from In his scud; ‘more ofien.
He was at home all day. He didn’t go anywhere.
X And what was thac like for you, that period?
Well, he lived in his studio. So, I mean, all you saw of him was that he would come
outside to get something quickly, something to drink, or something to eat. Or to go
rest. But he was constantly in his studio.
X Burwasn't he doing other things around the house?
He didn’t have time for that. That period would come later, after we returned from
our long leave in the Netherlands. That was after the unveiling of the statue, we
left Suriname that year, on August 6th, for a long vacation in the Netherlands. At
the government’s expense.
Dad, with Grandpa, and ; ——
more that period, I assume?
He was his right hand!

A Asalitdeboy, icwas... I don'tknow, I
And he really helped out!
A Andhelped with everything.
You were eleven years old.
So, before thae we didn' see him in the mornings. In the afiernoons hed come home for 2 lirde
ile ar dis i and then he'd g . And dtomakea
sound uncil he got up again, and then he'd leave again to teach in the evenings.
In the afternoon! And class started as early as four thirty.

A And then we were allowed to play and make noise again.
And then maybe he didn’'t come home again until nine in the evening.
A And from what I can remember, whenever he came home for a bit, he would go upstairs and lie
down. The only contace we had with him was we got 0 squecze pimples. Everybods would then

pimples. Or you got one pes inga hair.
X  Gryhain.
And then he would fall asleep.
X i October 72, and dy
A P X > P
d make my own eoolbax, with red doors. And hewall. Thadalic
Y AT S S
N - - e e e e

y »
those copper things, throwing pots. But related to the sculpture, at one point the sculpure was ac
wrue sl incay n shessudio. A i hd b kepe e, 50 Diogo and Lwee losclyivolved in

y . Right, Mom, Diego and I took turns,
every few hours, we had 0 lm,, it wet when we weren' at school. So during the day he did ir, buc
when he had to rest, we had t keep it wet. On our backs, ight, with one of those devices that you
spray insecticides with. A nebulizer. We were eleven and twelve years old then. That went on uncl
the plaster phase plaster, unl P

And in the meantime, while that sculpture was being modelled in clay, in actual

size, he was also giving instructions to the foundry of Reli. It was a lot of work.

X y spoken about A tha

period that you can remember?

Apart from the fact that he was constantly working on that thing, everything that

had to be organized for it had to be done by me, because I was the only person who

could help him. So all the materials that had to be bought-he placed the order, he

S ) € B ety 6o T 3 0 0 (0 B Ly ol i (0L Gty

and pick up the order. So that included fire clay, plaster, wire, gauze, I don
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I got the fabric in the afternoon, at about six o'clock. Whole rags. And it had to
have a star on it. That yellow star had to be there. ALl those strips had to be sewn
together. I worked all night behind that sewing machine. ALl night. Until early in
the morning.
A Infact, they had raised a flag, at the And: stadium [k the Suris Stadi
since its opening in 1953, name changed in 1988,

They had that ready. They had already thought of that. But the one for the square
they hadn't planned. Such a tiny flag, like the ones you hang on a house, that's
what they would have put there, your father said: “No, that’s really not an option,
that can’t be done, that’s ridiculous. You have to come up with something else for
that.” So that's how I spent the night before Independence, behind my sewing ma-
chine. No one knows that. I asked once, what haj d to that flag, does that flag
still exist? They said: “No.” Probably due to weather and wind.. I mean, a flag like
that wears out after a few years anyway. So yes. Man.

X Andsothar’s the end of the story, or of this chaprer. Finally, what's your impression of the seulprure, or how it con-
wibuted t© Grandpas ardseic legacy?

As far as I'm concerned, they can cackle all they want, but there is no greater art-

ist in Suriname. There really isn't. Painters, maybe, but no artist as conprehensive

as your grandfather. He could do everything. Not just painting, not just drawing,

not just sculpting, he could do everything. And he proved how much expertise and

talent he had with the making of Pengel.

Part 111
A The final phase of the ear plastering; the plaster is up to his lips.
See all those dividing lines?
A k divids ‘the mould.
165-661
S And this is Heymans. And I must say, those guys worked with a lot of enthusiasm and con-

viction. Really, they loved it.
A Ted Heymans.

167-691
A Andin [67) again you have Dicgo, and Mr. X, and Dad.
X . Xis unknown.
1701
A And here is Diego again.
71-741

S And this 1s it, you see, these are the parts, those separate pieces that are lined with
gypsun slabs about 8 mm thick. So Pengel, the sculpture, is 8 mm thick, it's hollow. So,
the clay is complately taken out, and then we put in those wax plates, and in those wax
plates we put back casting channels and vents. This was part of the hand and the hat.

This guy is a Coronian, he came along with Eric Lie, and he just wanted to help out, just
spontaneously help out [72]. But I don't know his name. You'd have to ask Eric Lie that.

A pla d be g L
g hishead, and ch H
d be put back in, y Anda
he the back of the head, e i)
dded in the clay. IF & fora moment, y here on
751
S And this is the reverse side of Pengel's face.
A Then you see these L-shaped bars. This k P ;, and when you tak P off, this P k Because this
piece was embedded in that clay.
176-771

S This is Eric Lie again. And so, this is what those pieces looked like.
A Thisis Linger and Eric Lie.

1781
S Those then had to be made dust-free; all the grains had to be sucked out. And then those
gypsum slabs were put in. And these brackets [75], they hold the wax plate, keep it in
place. So that it doesn’t sag. That's what the anchors are for.

[79-821
R And the function of those hooks is so that when that wax layer is applied, as you se¢ here, most of that hook il ticks out. And, on this side,
plaster d again. And those hook k plaster d

S Here you see it again, the laying of the plates.
A Grandpa ar woek. And d chen ic hard. dih o
d then ics basically locked in.

183-861
S You can see how industrious we were in my studio.
A Here you can basically see the same process.
X Andwhois chatin [84]2
A Linger, Doelwijt in [85), and Stuarc and Doelwijc in [86].
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Part III

S Stuart Robles de Mcdina, B Barbara Robles de Medina-Nobre
he photoalbam. Scuart Roblesde Medina's based

Amedeo Robles de Medina,and X Xavier Robles de Medi he i i

Part 1.
Amedeo Robles de Medina, and Xavier Robles de Medina is taken from the 2023 audio recording in Pare IL.

m
S These are the three Robles de Medinas. Senior, my father; my son Amedeo, he was twelve
years old here; and I was forty-two.
B Rens was one of the few German teachers in Suriname, as well as a drawing teacher. He also had an English diploma.
That man studied very hard. With all those children. His courses were called LO [primary school teacher diploma],
there was no MO in Suriname. Stuart later started the first MO course for drawing.

& f h hisalb

y g

B He came to help his son, yes. And also to clean.

A A il randpa for tutoring, i bl ch y )

B Every morning my father-in-law would bring fresh buns. He would go to that Chinese bakery on Wanicastraat [Wan-
icastraat was renamed Johan Adolf Pengelstraat in 2006], and he would get fresh buns, and before he drove back
home, he would drive by our place, at Rodekruislaan, and drop off the buns. Warm buns. Delicious! Butter and chunky
peanut butter, with chili, what! At that time, T used to eat breakfast.

X for i ing this period, Dad, y then.

B Yes, you went together with Diego.

fih for the sixth grade. 5 René. And il ly 3ed.
B Our engagement is also on July 3rd. Yes, you don't know that, but we got engaged on his birthday, July 3rd, 1955.
A Andsixyears later, I was born on July 3rd.
B And a number of years later, Etienne [Stuart's younger brother] died on July 3rd.
R On myfordieth birchday. yes.
B Yes, 2001.

danother licdle d éh ly pacient afier | graduated.
121
S This is the final sculpture.
X Acolour photograph of the statue of Pengel destal, in Ind be caken in 1974, or even a bic
13-41

S Then here T have the unveiling. You can see how big, if you compare this man here with
the statue. Then you can imagine how that lady was startled then. But you see, when you
look at it, those tiny flaws . . . the casting flaws, you don’t see them. Ferrier was
the first to congratulate me.

A OnJune 5th, 1974. Stuart and Ferrier, he was still governor then.
B This is Pengel's wife in [3].
X With herback o the camera. And this looks like Arron.
B It is Arron, yes.
X Didheunveil the starue?

B No, Mrs. Pengel was going to unveil it. But maybe the cloth hadn't come off completely, and she needed help.

15-61
S This is a design in wax, about eighty centimetres tall, and a sketch of the pedestal on
which it was to stand. And so, based on this design, Wim and Kruisland and Sedney granted
the approval to start. And then T had to handle everything else with Sedney.
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871

$  We were constantly busy.

[88-901
S Here, you see the sprues. This is what the bronze had to flow through. And then you still
had-these are a bit thinner-these thin sprues. Those are the vents to let out the air
that had built up during the pouring of the bronze . . . that had to get out somewhere.

[91-951
A The moulds areall ready to be ransported to the foundry.
B To the Reli company. To be cast.
Look here, you can still see pictures of Martin Luther King, against the wall [92].

961
S Here we are resting for a moment.
971
A Lok, " J et 7 bodics,
081
S Behind there is another sketch of Martin Luther King.
A HereFrank funnel, in which
991

S And this is in the foundry. This is Walter Lim A Po. Who managed to talk his brother
into letting me set up a foundry back there. This is Amedeo and this is my wife.

[1001
B And this is Rogl Lim A Po, he was the director of Reli.

X Andhe’s Walter's brother—ics his company then?
B The company belongs to the family, but he was the director.
A Icwasa family company. T don'c know what is facher’s full name was, but Reli comes from R. E. Lim A Po.

mon
S This is Rob do Boar. A school friend of mine who worked at Reli.
B He and his wife, they were in our group of friends.

1021

S And here you have the group. Some are from Beekhuizen. This is Kogeldans [third from
right], this is Jeffrey [fourth from right]. This guy is an engineer, he worked at Reli
[fifth from right]. And this is that firer [far left]. I forget what his name is. And
these are all guys who worked at Reli and were just curious, and the boss allowed them
to join in, a bit. And I believe that this was the first piece we cast then. That's what
we were drinking to.

B Tirzah is not there? How strange.

A IthinkThad this day, 1 Frater, right? From Hildewardus [Frater
Hildewardus, headmaster).
X Which school was thac?
Aloyisius School
1103-1041

S This is that firer of mine, Luc [103]. And this is that melting furnace. To melt the
bronze, so you have your booster. T did all that together with Lim A Po.

B Luc came from a government company, the foundry of Beekhuizen. So, in that technical department, there were also
various men who came along to help.

A y khui -y had experience in casti i pares.T P Beekhuizen.
B Yes, has to be.
as
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